
 
75 North 100 West, P.O. Box 277 

Midway, Utah 84049 
Phone: 435-654-3223 Fax: 435-654-4120 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Memo 

 
 
Date: 17 October 2016 
 

To:  
 

Cc:  
 

From: Brad Wilson, City Recorder/Financial Officer 
 

RE: Minutes of the 3 October 2016 City Council Regular Meeting 
 
 
Please note that the following minutes are awaiting formal approval and are 
in draft or unapproved form. 



 

Midway City Council 
3 October 2016 

1 

MINUTES OF THE 
MIDWAY CITY COUNCIL 

 

(Special Meeting) 
 

Monday, 3 October 2016, 2:00 p.m. 
Midway Community Center, City Council Chambers 

160 West Main Street, Midway, Utah 
 

 
Note: Notices/agendas were posted at 7-Eleven, Ridley’s Express, the Midway City Office 
Building, and the Midway Community Center.  Notices/agendas were provided to the City 
Council, City Engineer, City Attorney, Planning Director, Public Works Assistant Crew Chief, 
and The Wasatch Wave. The public notice/agenda was published on the Utah State Public Notice 
Website and the City’s website. A copy of the public notice/agenda is contained in the 
supplemental file. 
 
 
1. Call to Order 
 
Mayor Bonner called the meeting to order at 2:05 p.m. 
 
Members Present: 
 

Colleen Bonner, Mayor 
Karl Dodge, Council Member 
Kent Kohler, Council Member 
Lisa Christen, Council Member 
 
Members Excused: 
 

Ken Van Wagoner, Council Member 
Bob Probst, Council Member 
 
Staff Present: 
 

Michael Henke, Planning Director 

Kraig Powell, Attorney 
Wes Johnson, Engineer 
Brad Wilson, Recorder/Financial Officer 
 
Others Present: 
 

Stacy Bauman, Resorts West 
Joe Ballstaedt, Resorts West 
Paul Gardiner, Resorts West 
Paul Berg, Berg Engineering Resource 

Group 
 
 

 
 
2. General Consent Calendar 
 

a. Agenda for the 3 October 2016 City Council Special Meeting 
 
 
Note: A copy of item 2a is contained in the supplemental file. 
 
 
3. Ordinance 2016-15/Commercial Setbacks and Uses (City Planner) – Proposed Ordinance 

2016-15 Amending Section 16.5 (Commercial C-2 and C-3 Zones) of the Midway City 



 

Midway City Council 
3 October 2016 

2 

Municipal Code Regarding Setbacks, Uses and Other Regulations. Recommended without 
Conditions by the Midway City Planning Commission. 

 
 
3a. Presentation – Receive a Presentation on the Ordinance from Staff 
 
Michael Henke gave a presentation regarding the ordinance and reviewed the following areas: 
 

• History 
• Uses and proposed changes 
• Tourism Overlay Zone (TOZ) 
• Riverwoods development 
• Boundaries of the TOZ 

 
Mr. Henke also made the following comments: 
 

• Auto repair shops were not allowed in the commercial zones. There was one in the 
proposed tourism overlay zone that might need to be relocated. Should they be allowed to 
facilitate the relocation? 

• A landscaping plan was recommended for all uses in the commercial zones. 
• The uses in the TOZ would be limited in comparison to those in the commercial zones. 
• The TOZ could work well with the recreation zone to the north. 
• The Planning Commission recommended rezoning the residential land, along the 

southeast base of the Memorial Hill, as commercial. 
• The Planning Commission recommended that all property, outside of the current city 

limits and within the annexation boundary, be zoned as one acre lots. 
• The incentives needed to be right for the TOZ to be successful. 

 
 
Note: A copy of Mr. Henke’s presentation is contained in the supplemental file. 
 
 
3b. Discussion – Discuss the Ordinance 
 
Mayor Bonner recommended that a landscape architect be a member of the Vision Architecture 
Committee (VAC). Mr. Henke also recommended in the future that landscaping be better 
defined. 
 
Council Member Dodge indicated that the property, along the southeast base of Memorial Hill, 
would develop after the area along Main Street. 
 
Mayor Bonner questioned if the TOZ should include property south of Main Street. She did not 
want the overlay zone to be too restrictive. 
 
Council Member Christen stated that the undeveloped area, east of River Road and North of 
Main Street, was a large area and any big business should be allowed there. Mr. Henke 



 

Midway City Council 
3 October 2016 

3 

responded that the allowed store size in the TOZ could be raised to a maximum of 25,000 sq. ft. 
The Council agreed. 
 
Council Member Dodge recommended that short-term rentals be a permitted use in the TOZ. 
The Council agreed. 
 
Council Member Dodge recommended public buildings be a conditional use in the TOZ. The 
Council recommended removing that use in the zone. 
 
Mayor Bonner recommended combining arts related businesses with photo, art, and craft 
galleries. 
 
Mayor Bonner asked what would qualify as vehicle parking. Mr. Henke responded that it was 
paid parking. Kraig Powell noted that the City would always require parking with a business and 
wondered why paid parking was needed. Mr. Henke responded that many cities included it in 
their codes. The Council recommended that it be a conditional use in the TOZ and C-2 zones. 
 
Council Member Dodge asked why theaters were a conditional use. Mayor Bonner indicated that 
they would be larger than 25,000 sq. ft. Mr. Henke asked if they should not have a size 
limitation. Council Member Christen recommended that they be left a conditional use because of 
their potential size. 
 
Mr. Powell recommended that theaters be listed as “walk-in theaters (indoor or outdoor)”. The 
Council agreed. 
 
Wes Johnson asked that engineering be a part of the conditional use process. 
 
Mr. Henke worried that 50% commercial was too high a requirement for a mixed use project. 
 
Council Member Dodge stated that restricting residential to above and below, in a mixed use 
project, limited creativity and the use of deep parcels. He said that the developer should be able 
to decide the location of the residential component. Mr. Henke worried that all of the commercial 
development would be at the front of the property. Mr. Johnson suggested reducing the 50% 
commercial requirement if all of the main level was commercial. 
 
Council Member Christen stressed that land owners had property rights. She wanted land owners 
to be able to subdivide their property, even in the commercial zones, for their children to live on. 
 
Mr. Powell indicated that large commercial developments would not exist if residential was not 
limited in the commercial zones. He added that residents would have to pay higher taxes if the 
City did not have a good commercial base. 
 
Council Member Christen recommended a balanced rather than a rigid approach. 
 
Council Member Dodge asked the size of the area in the TOZ. Mr. Henke estimated 50 acres. 
Council Member Dodge responded that size of a development would not happen in this size of a 
community. Paul Berg explained that a 50-acre commercial project would only have 20 acres for 



 

Midway City Council 
3 October 2016 

4 

retail with the rest for roads and parking. 
 
Joe Ballstaedt made the following comments: 
 

• Thanked the City for working on the TOZ and commercial zones. 
• The proposals had advantages and disadvantages for the property that he owned. 
• It would take time and a lot of money to develop the TOZ as envisioned by the City. 
• Reviewed a commercial development in Gilbert, Arizona. 
• Large commercial developments needed a lot of thought. 
• Midway would not get a large retailer and needed something unique. 
• Recommended against limiting residential to above and below commercial. 

 
Paul Gardiner said that 50 acres was a million sq. ft. and would take some time to develop and 
then lease. He thought that was asking a lot for a small city like Midway. 
 
Mayor Bonner stressed that Midway had a lot of assets in both the summer and the winter. 
 
Mr. Henke thought that the TOZ would work if there were incentives and the Municipal Code 
was flexible. 
 
Mr. Henke said that the vision was for an arts and retail corridor. 
 
Mr. Berg made the following comments: 
 

• Had the City considered tax incentives for commercial developments? 
• A developer had to collect rent for a significant period of time to pay for a project. This 

created pressure on the residential component to pay for the infrastructure. 
• For any tax incentives to be viable the Wasatch County School District had to participate. 

 
Wes Johnson asked if the water requirements in the TOZ could be reduced as an incentive. Mr. 
Powell responded that any water requirement had to be based on actual usage and could not be 
reduced. 
 
Mr. Henke again noted that an auto repair shop was in the proposed TOZ and would have to be 
moved or bought out for a large commercial development. He said that such businesses would 
have to be allowed, the current shop moved, and then prohibited again. Council Member 
Christen recommended that process only if requested by a developer. Mr. Powell added that a 
spot zone was allowed to facilitate the relocation. 
 
Mayor Bonner stressed that the City needed services. 
 
Mr. Berg recommended making everything in the TOZ a conditional use by adopting a 
performance based code. He said density bonuses would be given when a project met certain 
guidelines. 
 
Mr. Powell noted that the most important factor would be the desire of the developer. He said 
this required flexibility in the Municipal Code. 



 

Midway City Council 
3 October 2016 

5 

 
Mr. Henke explained that a developer had talked to him about an RV park in the back portion of 
the proposed TOZ. He pointed out that was not an allowed use. Mr. Berg explained RV parks 
and suggested the south side of the City, along Hwy 113 and near Soldier Hollow, as a better 
location. 
 
Mr. Berg asked what public spaces the City wanted in the TOZ.  
 
Council Member Dodge said that ideally one large development would be in the TOZ, which 
would require all of the land owners to sell together, or there would be two or three smaller 
projects. 
 
Mr. Henke explained that in adopting a performance based code the City would have to decide 
what it wanted and what it was worth. Mr. Berg suggested an overall cap on additional density in 
such a code. 
 
Council Member Dodge wanted to leave any code as open and flexible as possible. 
 
Mr. Powell thought that there would only be a couple of large commercial developments in the 
City. 
 
Council Member Christen asked if the Council wanted one acre lots in the proposed annexation 
area. Mr. Henke added that some of those areas could also be recreational. 
 
The Council discussed which properties to include in the TOZ at the intersection of Main Street 
and River Road. They decided to include the Block Management building and the two homes on 
its west side. They discussed removing the property, owned by the Hardy Foundation, on the 
northwest corner. 
 
Mr. Henke said that the changes to the commercial zones, excluding the TOZ, could be adopted 
at the next council meeting. Mayor Bonner suggested adopting a notice of pending ordinance, 
regarding the TOZ, buy December. 
 
Mayor Bonner asked if the Council wanted to allow the subdividing of Main Street property for 
family members. Wes Johnson asked how that would be regulated. Mr. Powell pointed out that a 
property would be more valuable as commercial. Council Member Dodge noted that a family 
would get more value by selling its property as commercial and then building in a residential 
zone. Mr. Powell also pointed out that residents complained about commercial uses next to their 
houses. 
 
The Council discussed the Mountain Goat Apartments which were approved along Main Street. 
Council Member Dodge said setbacks and a residential designation were issues with the project. 
Mayor Bonner felt that there should not be any setback requirements unless the property was 
next to a residential zone. 
 
Mayor Bonner said that a fire would be fought through the front door and access was not needed 
from the rear. Council Member Dodge pointed out that Council Member Probst, who was a 



 

Midway City Council 
3 October 2016 

6 

firefighter, recommended access all around the building. 
 
Mr. Henke reported that the Planning Commission recommended that the setbacks not be 
changed. 
 
Mayor Bonner recommended that the rear setbacks remain the same but that the Council have 
discretion on the side setbacks. 
 
Council Member Christen worried about existing residents, like Inez Wilde, who lived along 
Main Street. 
 
Council Member Dodge did not want to see apartment buildings with no walkways between 
them. 
 
Mr. Henke did not want developers to think that there were no setbacks but then have them 
added at a council meeting. 
 
The Council agreed that the setback should be 15 feet from a residential zone. 
 
Council Member Dodge asked why RV sales was recommended for elimination. Mr. Henke 
responded that the Planning Commission thought the use took up too much space. The Council 
recommended leaving it in. 
 
 
4. Department Reports 
 
No department reports were given. 
 
 
5. Adjournment 
 
Motion: Council Member Dodge moved to adjourn the meeting. Council Member Christen 
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 4:35 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                          
Colleen Bonner, Mayor     Brad Wilson, Recorder 


	Unapproved Minutes - City Council (Memo)
	1

